学位論文 (要約)

Expression analysis of genes expressed preferentially in
the honeybee mushroom bodies during metamorphosis and
functional analysis of PLC in learning and memory.
(ミツバチ脳キノコ体で選択的に発現する遺伝子の
変態期での発現と PLC の記憶学習における機能の解析)

平成28年12月博士(理学)申請

東京大学大学院理学系研究科

生物科学専攻

末次 翔太

Abstract

The European honeybee (Apis mellifera L.) is a social insect, and its larvae cannot live alone, while the adult workers are engaged in various tasks to maintain colony activity. It is unknown how the brain structure and function underlying the honeybee social behaviors develop during its ontogeny. The mushroom bodies (MBs) are a higher order center of the insect brain and the honeybee MBs compromise four Kenyon cell (KC) subtypes (the class I large- [1], middle- [m], small- [s], and class-II KCs) that have distinct gene expression profiles. On the other hand, the larval honeybee MBs are consisted of only class-II KCs. However, it was unknown whether the larval and adult MBs are different in terms of gene expression. In my master course studies, I showed that Phospholipase C epsilon (PLCe), Synaptotagmin 14 (Syt14), and discs large 5 (*dlg5*) are expressed almost selectively in the MBs of the adult worker honeybee brains. Based on these results, in my doctoral course study, I first analyzed the expression of these genes in the larval and pupal brains.

In Chapter I, I used quantitative reverse-transcription polymerase chain reaction (qRT-PCR) to examine the expression levels of *PLCe*, *Syt14*, and *dlg5* in the brains of the larval and pupal honeybees. Expression of *PLCe*, *Syt14*, and *dlg5*

increased from the larval to late pupal stage, suggesting that these genes play important roles in the later pupal and adult stages. *In situ* hybridization analysis revealed that *PLCe* was preferentially expressed in the class-II KCs in the late larval brain while the preferential expression of *PLCe* was detected in both of the class-II and differentiating IKCs in the early pupal brain, indicating that *PLCe* is expressed in all KC subtypes irrespective of the developmental stages. In contrast, while expression of *Syt14* and *dlg5* in the late larval brain was very low, *Syt14* and *dlg5* started to be selectively expressed in the lKCs at the late pupal stage, indicating that the IKCs-selective expressions of *Syt14* and *dlg5* are acquired during midpupal to adult stages. These results indicated that the larval and adult honeybee MBs have distinct gene expression profiles.

In Chapter II, I analyzed the role of PLC in learning and memory in the adult worker honeybee. For this, I planned to use pharmacologic inhibitors targeting PLC. Quantitative RT-PCR revealed that *PLCe* and the genes for other two PLC subtypes are expressed more strongly in the MBs than in other brain regions, proboscises and antennae, suggesting that PLC subtypes act mainly in the MBs in the worker brains. Furthermore, biochemical analysis revealed that two pharmacologic agents, edelfosine and neomycin, which are used as common PLC inhibitors in various animals, effectively inhibit PLC activity in the honeybee brain homogenate. Then I analyzed possible involvement of PLC in olfactory associative learning of the honeybee using these two inhibitors. When the honeybees were injected with edelfosine or neomycin into their heads, memory formation in training was declined in comparison to the mock-injected control groups. On the other hand, memory maintenance at 1 h and 24 h after training was not different from the control groups, suggesting that PLC is involved in the early stage of memory formation but not memory maintenance till 24 h in the adult worker honeybees.

Although preceding studies showed that calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II (CaMKII) is involved in the maintenance of odor memory in the honeybee, my study first showed that PLC, an upstream factor in the calcium signaling, is involved in acquisition of memory in the honeybee. Considering that *PLCe* is also expressed in larval class-II KCs as well as adult MBs, it is possible that PLC also function in learning and memory even in the larval stages.

In summary, in my doctoral course study, I first indicated that larval and adult honeybee MBs have distinct gene expression profiles, and PLC functions in learning and memory in adult worker honeybees. I expect that these findings could contribute to give insights into the molecular and neural bases underlying honeybee social behaviors.

Contents

Abstract...2

Abbreviations...6

General Introduction...7

Chapter I

Analysis of the expression of the adult MBs-preferential genes in the larval and pupal honeybee

Introduction...12

Materials and Methods...14

Results...18

Discussion...22

Chapter II

Analysis of the function of PLC in olfactory learning and memory in the honeybee

本章については、5年以内に雑誌等で刊行予定のため、非公開。

General Discussion...29

Figures...36

References...56

Acknowledgements...70

Abbreviations

AL	antennal lobe
CaMKI	I calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II
DAG	diacylglycerol
dlg5	discs large 5
GPCR	G protein-coupled receptor
IP_3	inositol 1, 4, 5-trisphosphate
IP_3P	type I IP ₃ 5-phosphatase
IP_3R	IP ₃ receptor
KC	Kenyon cell
lKC	large-type Kenyon cell
MB	mushroom body
mKC	middle-type Kenyon cell
Nb	neuroblast
OL	optic lobe
PKC	protein kinase C
PLC	phospholipase C
PLCe	phospholipase C epsilon
qRT-PCR quantitative reverse-transcription polymerase chain reaction	
RpL32	ribosomal protein L32
RTK	receptor tyrosine kinase
ryr	ryanodine receptor

- sKC small-type Kenyon cell
- Syt14 Synaptotagmin 14

General Introduction

The European honeybee (Apis mellifera L.) is a social insect that shows highly integrated behavioral allocation in the colony [Winston 1986]. For example, honeybee reproduction is allocated to males and specialized females called "queens", and the other female bees are engaged in labors to maintain colony activity and are called "workers". This allocation of reproduction in females is called caste differentiation. Worker bees show age polyethism; young bees are mainly engaged in in-hive tasks such as taking care of the brood ("nurse bees") while older bees collect food outside of the hive ("foragers"). Due to caste differentiation and the worker bees' dedication to supporting reproductive individuals at the cost of their own reproduction, the honeybee colony is considered analogous to a multicellular organism: queens and males are the germ lines, while workers are the soma [Moritz and Fuchs 1997; Amdam and Seehuus 2006]. Based on this analogy, the honeybee colony is sometimes referred to as a "superorganism" [Moritz and Fuchs 1997; Amdam and Seehuus 2006]. Tautz and Heilmann wrote that the honeybee society also shares some features with mammals: nurse bees make and give "milk" to broods like the glands of mammals; in addition, the honeybee exhibits highly developed learning abilities that surpass those of some vertebrates [Tautz and Heilmann 2007]. This highly organized society was acquired in the evolution of Hymenopteran insects.

On the other hand, the evolution of sociality in the honeybee is associated with complete dependency of the larvae on workers. Honeybee larvae live at the bottom of honeycombs in the hive and must be fed by nurse bees, whereas the larvae of other holometabolous insects such as the fruit fly and butterfly search for their own food. Thus, honeybee behavior is associated with its development as well as social evolution. How brain functions underlying the complex behaviors of the adult honeybee develop, however, remains unknown.

I began my doctoral course studies with the expectation that analysis of the development of the higher brain function of the honeybee would provide insight into the social evolution of Hymenoptera. This knowledge might also provide information on some of the evolutionary processes of the brain functions and sociality of higher animals.

The insect brain comprises the antennal lobes (ALs), optic lobes (OLs), and mushroom bodies (MBs). The MBs are the integration center for sensory information transmitted from primary sensory centers such as the ALs (olfactory centers) and OLs (visual centers; see Fig. 1A for an overview of the brain of the adult honeybee). The MBs comprise intrinsic neurons called Kenyon cells (KCs), which project their dendrites into the calyces and axons into the lobes via peduncles, respectively (Fig. 1B) [Strausfeld 2002]. The KCs of the honeybee are categorized into four subtypes (class-I large- [1], middle- [m], small-type [s], and, class-II KCs) based on the size and location of their somata (Fig. 1C) [Strausfeld 2002; Kaneko et al. 2013; Kaneko et al. 2016].

The MBs are involved in learning and memory [Davis 2011; Menzel 2012]. For example, *rutabaga*, *DC0*, and *dunce* (encoding type I calcium/calmodulin-stimulated adenylate cyclase, a regulatory subunit of protein kinase A, and cAMP phosphodiesterase, respectively) are critically required for learning and memory in *Drosophila melanogaster* and are preferentially expressed in the MBs [McGuire et al. 2005], and previous reports demonstrated that cAMP signaling in the MBs is important for *Drosophila* learning and memory [McGuire et al. 2005]. Involvement of the MBs in

honeybee learning and memory has also been analyzed [Hammer and Menzel 1998; Lozano et al. 2001; Szyszka et al. 2008]. Analysis of the expression of genes and proteins involved in cAMP signaling revealed, e.g., that expression of a gene encoding a catalytic subunit of protein kinase A is localized in the MBs [Eisenhardt et al. 2001], a protein corresponding to an adenylate cyclase subtype is expressed preferentially in the MBs as well as the ALs [Balfanz et al. 2012], and phosphorylated cAMP response element binding protein is enriched in the sKCs [Gehring et al. 2016]. Honeybee MBs are also thought to be involved in complex tasks, such as working memory, orientation, and foraging flight [Menzel 2009; Menzel 2012; Kiya et al. 2007; Lutz and Robinson 2013].

The honeybee KC subtypes have distinct gene expression profiles, suggesting functional diversification among subtypes [Kaneko et al. 2016]. For example, genes involved in calcium signaling, such as *inositol 1, 4, 5-trisphosphate receptor (IP₃R)*, *type I IP₃ 5-phosphatase (IP₃P), calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II (CaMKII), ryanodine receptor (ryr)*, and *reticulocalbin* [Kamikouchi et al. 1998; Kamikouchi et al. 2000; Takeuchi et al. 2002; Uno et al. 2013], are expressed in an IKC-enriched manner, suggesting that calcium signaling enhancement in the IKCs contributes to learning and memory in the honeybee [Kaneko et al. 2016]. On the other hand, some genes involved in ecdysone signaling, such as *ecdysone receptor, hormonal receptor-like 38 (HR38)*, and *E74,* are enriched in the sKCs [Paul et al. 2005; Yamazaki et al. 2006; Takeuchi et al. 2007]. Because *HR38* expression is increased in foragers, sKCs are suggested to be involved in the division of labor [Yamazaki et al. 2006; Kaneko et al. 2016]. Moreover, the gene termed *kakusei*, whose expression reflects neural activity, is expressed selectively in the sKCs and part of the mKCs in the forager

brain, suggesting that these KCs are involved in sensory information processing during foraging [Kiya et al. 2007; Kaneko et al. 2013; Kaneko et al. 2016].

The knowledge of genes selectively expressed in each KC subtype allows for analysis of the development of the KC subtypes over the life of the honeybee using these genes as markers for each KC subtype. Therefore, in my doctoral studies, I first examined the expression of genes in honeybee brains during metamorphosis (larva and pupa) that seemed to be the most appropriate as marker genes for the KC subtypes and compared the expression levels of these genes with those in the adult brain. Among them, *Phospholipase C epsilon (PLCe)* was preferentially expressed in the MBs irrespective of developmental stages of the honeybee, suggesting that this gene regulate unique function of the MBs from the larval stages. Thus, in Chapter II, to gain insight into function of PLCe in behavior of the honeybee, I analyzed involvement of PLC in learning and memory in the adult honeybee.

Chapter I

Analysis of the expression of the adult MBs-preferential genes in the larval and pupal honeybee

Introduction

In the honeybee brain, Kenyon cells (KCs) are sequentially generated through the cell division of neuroblasts (Nbs) and exist as different subtypes in the adult brain depending on when they are born during metamorphosis (Fig. 2A) [Farris et al. 1999]. The KCs that differentiate into the class-II subtype in the adult honeybee are generated during the larval and prepupal stages; future class-I KCs are derived from Nbs in the later stages and large- (l) and small-type (s) KCs are generated in the early and midpupal stages, respectively (Fig. 2A) [Farris et al. 1999]. Therefore, the mushroom bodies (MBs) of larval and adult honeybees have a different composition of KC subtypes; larval MBs contain only the KCs that differentiate into class-II KCs (compare Fig. 1C and 2B). In addition to the different organization of the KCs, the calyces are absent in larval MBs and are acquired and compartmentalized during metamorphosis [Farris et al. 1999]. Therefore, the in the larval MBs and are acquired and compartmentalized during metamorphosis [Farris et al. 1999].

This increasing structural complexity from the larval to adult-stage MBs suggests that MB function also becomes more complex during honeybee development. Whether adult honeybee KC subtypes and larval KCs differ in terms of their gene expression, however, has remained unknown due to the lack of marker genes for the KC subtypes. It is possible that the larval KCs also express genes that are selectively expressed in each KC subtype in the adult MBs.

In a previous study in our laboratory, in order to gain insight into unique functions of the MBs in behavior of the adult honeybee, candidate genes which are

expressed in the adult MBs-selective manner were comprehensively searched using cDNA microarray and in situ hybridization [Paul 2004]. The study identified a total of 18 genes, including Phospholipase C epsilon (PLCe), Synaptotagmin 14 (Syt14), and *discs large 5 (dlg5)*, as candidate genes that are preferentially expressed in the MBs in the adult honeybee brain. However, cDNA fragments identified there were sometimes annotated on intergenic regions in the honeybee genome database and/or small in length [Paul 2004]. Thus, in my master course study, I focused on three genes, PLCe, Syt14, and dlg5, which appeared to be expressed more selectively in the MBs than any other candidate genes, for the further analyses. To confirm the previous results, I used quantitative reverse-transcription polymerase chain reaction (qRT-PCR) and in situ hybridization with probes corresponding to longer coding sequences. As a result, qRT-PCR analysis showed that all of three genes were expressed in the MBs higher than in the other brain regions. In situ hybridization analysis revealed that while PLCe is expressed preferentially in all KC subtypes, Syt14 and dlg5 are expressed preferentially in the lKCs in the adult honeybee brain (Fig. 3). Interestingly, MB-selective expression of these genes is not reported in other insect brains, such as the fruit fly [Kobayashi et al. 2006], suggesting that the MB-selective expression of these genes is unique to some Hymenopteran insects, including the honeybee. So I considered, if the MB-selective expression of these genes is not detected in the larval brain, the expression of these genes in the MBs could be related to behaviors unique to the adult honeybee. Therefore, in Chapter I, I used these genes to examine whether the larval class-II KCs have distinct molecular characteristics from those of adult MBs and if so, when the IKCs acquire the selective expression of Syt14 and dlg5 during pupal development.

Materials and Methods

Animals

The European honeybee (*Apis mellifera* L.) colonies were purchased from a local distributor and maintained at the University of Tokyo.

Subcloning of PLCe, Syt14, dlg5, Mblk-1, and RpL32, and synthesis of RNA probes

During my master course studies, I subcloned PLCe, Syt14, dlg5 (for qRT-PCR and in situ hybridization), and Ribosomal protein L32 (RpL32) (for qRT-PCR). I additionally subcloned Actin related protein 1 (Arp1), RpL32, and Mushroom body/large-type Kenyon cell-preferential protein-1 (Mblk-1) to prepare standard samples for qRT-PCR and RNA probes. cDNA from the pupal brain at day 9 after pupation (P9) stage was used as templates and PCR was performed with TaKaRa ExTaq and gene specific (NM 001185146.1), 5'-TCCCCGAATCCCGAAAG-3' primers: Arpl and 5'-CGGAGGAACCAAAGGACAA-3'; *RpL32* (XM 006564315.1), 5'-TCGTCACCAGAGTGATCGTT-3' and 5'- CGTAACCTTGCACTGGCATT-3'; and Mblk-1 (AB047034.1), 5'-AATTTCAAATTTCGCCTCGA-3' 5'and TTTTGGAACAACCCCACCAT-3'. The PCR products were cloned into a pGEM-T Easy vector (Promega). For preparation of RNA probes, after confirming the sequences of the cloned DNAs, PCR was again performed using TaKaRa ExTaq with M13 forward and reverse primers to obtain templates for in vitro transcription. Sense and antisense RNA probes were synthesized using a DIG labeling Kit (Roche) according to the manufacturer's instructions [Yamazaki et al. 2006; Kaneko et al. 2010; Kaneko et al. 2013].

Quantitative RT-PCR analysis

The stages of the developing honeybee were determined as described previously [Ganeshina et al. 2000; Moda et al. 2013]. Brains from worker honeybees at the larval fifth-instar feeding stage (L5F), and pupal day 2, 3, 7, and 9 days after puparium formation (P2, P3, P7, and P9, respectively) were dissected out under a binocular microscope and homogenized in TRIzol LS reagent (Ambion). Five L5F, three P2, two P3, and one each of P7 and P9 bees were used as a lot, respectively, and three lots of samples were analyzed for each stage.

Total RNA was extracted with TRIzol LS reagent (Ambion) and the same amount of RNA from each sample was reverse-transcribed using a PrimeScript RT reagent Kit with gDNA eraser (Perfect Real Time, TaKaRa). Quantitative RT-PCR was performed with LightCycler 480 Instrument II (Roche) and SYBR premix Ex Taq II (Tli RNase H Plus, TaKaRa) according to the manufacturer's instructions [Ugajin et al 2013]. The following primers were used: PLCe, 5'-GTTTCGCCAATCGAAAAACG-3' and 5-GATAGAGGTCAATGGAGCCA-3'; Syt14, 5'-TCCACCGCCGGATACTTTAAC-3' and 5'-CAATGCGTGGTAGAAGTGGG-3'; 3' 5'-GTGCTCGAATCTAGGCATCTCdlg5,and 5'-CGTTGATCTCAGACAGGCAA-3'; Mblk-1. 5'-CAACACCAAATACGACCCAAAAC-3' and 5'-GACAACAGCGGCTTCAAC-3'; 5'-AAAGAGAAACTGGCGTAAACC-3' RpL32, and 5'-CTCGTCATATGTTGCCAACTG-3'; glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase 5'-GATGCACCCATGTTTGTTTG-3' (gapdh, XM 393605.5), and 5'-TTTGCAGAAGGTGCATCAAC-3'. Although the expression of RpL32, gapdh, and *Arp1* as candidate reference genes was quantified, their expression levels changed significantly throughout metamorphosis. Thus, expression of transcripts was normalized by those at P9 but not by those of reference genes. Primers and standard samples for quantification of *Mblk-1* and *gapdh* were provided as a gift (see acknowledgements). The Kruskal-Wallis test and Steel-Dwass test were used for statistical analysis.

In situ hybridization analysis

Experimental procedures were essentially the same as described in previous studies [Kaneko et al. 2010; Kaneko et al. 2013; Ugajin et al. 2013].

Two brains from L5F and P3 worker bees were used to examine each gene. The brains were embedded in Tissue-Tek OCT compound (Sakura Finetek Japan) and frozen on dry ice. Frozen coronal sections of the brain (10 μ m thick) was picked up onto slides and fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde in 0.1M phosphate buffer (4% PFA-PB) (pH 7.4) at 4°C overnight, treated with 10 μ g/ml proteinase K for 15 min, 4% PFA-PB for another 15 min, 0.2M HCl for 10 min, and 0.25% acetic-anhydride in 0.1M tri-ethanolamine HCl for 10 min. The sections were washed with PB between each step. The tissue was dehydrated in ethanol solutions (from 70% to 100%, in 10% increments), and hybridized with RNA probes at 50°C overnight (>12h). RNA probes were diluted in hybridization buffer (50% formamide, 10 mM Tris-HCl at pH 7.6, 200 μ g/ml tRNA, 1 × Denhardt's solution, 10% dextran sulfate, 600 mM NaCl, 0.25% SDS, 1 mM EDTA), and heated at 85°C for 5 min before use. To prevent the probes spreading unevenly and drying out, the slides were covered with parafilm sheets cut to the size of the slides. Sections were washed with 5× saline sodium citrate (SSC) and 50% formamide in 2× SSC for 1 h at 50°C, and treated with TNE (10 mM Tris-HCl at pH 7.5, 0.5M NaCl, 1

mM EDTA) for 10 min at 37°C. RNase A was then added to the TNE at 10 µg/ml and sections were treated for 15 min and washed for 10 min with fresh TNE at 37°C. The slides were then treated with $2 \times SSC$ and twice with $0.2 \times SSC$ for 20 min at 50°C. The hybridized RNA probes were detected using a DIG Nucleic Acid Detection Kit (Roche). Sections were treated with DIG buffer I (100 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.5, 150 mM NaCl) for 5 min, 1.5% blocking reagent for 1 h, and anti-DIG antibody conjugated with alkaline phosphatase (diluted 1:1000) for 30 min. The sections were then washed in DIG buffer I twice for 15 min each, treated with DIG buffer III (100 mM Tris-HCl pH 9.5, 100 mM NaCl, 50 mM MgCl₂, 0.005% Tween 20) for 3 min and NBT/BCIP solution (1:50) was used for staining. The detection procedure was performed at room temperature. Staining lasted for 3 h (*PLCe*), 6 h (*RpL32*), and >12h (the other genes). Images were reconstructed and processed using GIMP2.8 software (http://www.gimp.org/).

Results

Quantification of the expression of PLCe, Syt14, and dlg5 in the developing honeybee brain

First, to examine when PLCe, Syt14, and, dlg5 are expressed in the honeybee brain during metamorphosis, I quantified their expression levels in the larval and pupal brains. Analysis of RpL32, gapdh and Arp1, which have been used as reference genes in the honeybee [Reim et al. 2013; Ugajin et al. 2013; Uno et al. 2013], revealed significant changes in their expression during metamorphosis. The expression of RpL32 decreased with the progression of metamorphosis (Fig. 4A), whereas gapdh expression increased in later stages (Fig. 4B). Change in the expression of Arp1 was more complex (Fig. 4C). Thus, I normalized expression of PLCe, Syt14, and dlg5 by expression level of each gene at stage P9 but not by expression levels of the above reference genes. The expression of PLCe, Syt14, and dlg5 generally increased with development of the brain. Compared to the L5F brain, the P9 brain had ~16.1-, 8.97-, and, 3.81-fold higher expression of *PLCe*, *Syt14*, and, *dlg5*, respectively (Fig. 5A-C), suggesting that *PLCe*, Syt14, and dlg5 mainly function in the later pupal or adult stages. I also analyzed the expression of *Mblk*-1, a gene preferentially expressed in the lKCs at the pupal stage [Takeuchi et al. 2001] and used as a reference gene for MB development. The expression of Mblk-1 was not detected in L5F brain, peaked at P3, and declined to nearly half at P7 and P9 (Fig. 5D). These findings suggested that Mblk-1 has a role in the early pupal stage. Although the expression changes during metamorphosis were significant for all genes (P<0.05, Kruskal-Wallis test), differences between adjacent stages were not statistically significant (P>0.05, Steel-Dwass test), possibly due to the

small sample sizes.

Analysis of the spatial expression of PLCe, Syt14, and dlg5 in the developing brain by in situ hybridization

Based on qRT-PCR analysis, I performed *in situ* hybridization to examine changes in the expression of PLCe, Syt14, and, dlg5 in larval and pupal brains of worker bees. I selected larval and pupal stages based on the expectation that the L5F brain has more differentiated KCs than brains in earlier stages (Fig. 2A) and that KCs may regulate larval behavior. The P3 pupal stage was also chosen on the basis that IKCs are born till the P2 stage and are expected to start differentiating at around the P3 stage (Fig. 2A). First, I analyzed the expression pattern of *RpL32* in the L5F brain to clarify the location of cell somata. Significant staining was detected only when the antisense probe was used, leading me to conclude that the antisense probe reflected the expression of RpL32(Fig. 6A and B). Whole brains, including the MBs, optic lobe primordium (OLp) [Roat and Landim 2010], and antennal lobes (ALs) [Moda et al. 2013], were intensely stained. Each MB at this stage has two clusters of Nbs and two peduncles extending from the bottom of each Nb cluster [Farris et al. 1999]. Based on this report, I concluded that cells with more intense staining in the MBs (arrows in Fig. 6C) corresponded to the Nbs (Fig. 6D). Higher expression of *RpL32* in the Nbs might reflect higher protein synthesis activity in these cells.

Next, to determine the location of the lKC somata, I analyzed the expression of *Mblk-1* in the P3 pupal brain. The staining pattern differed between experiments using the antisense and sense probes (Fig. 7A and B), indicating that the antisense probe represented *Mblk-1* expression. Expression was detected throughout the brain,

especially in the MBs. At this stage, the MBs have two Nb clusters and KCs, which differentiate into the s-, l-, and class-II KCs in the adult brain. Earlier born KCs are pushed away by newly born KCs [Farris et al. 1999], and thus sKCs are located between the Nbs and IKCs, and class-II KCs are located at the edge of the calyces [Farris et al. 1999]. *Mblk-1* was expressed most strongly in the cells sandwiched between cells with lower expression (Fig. 7C). According to previous reports [Farris et al. 1999; Takeuchi et al. 2001], I concluded that the cells with higher *Mblk-1* expression were IKCs (Fig. 7D). The sKCs could not be discriminated based on morphologic observations in this study.

Next, I examined the expression of *PLCe*, *Syt14*, and, *dlg5* in the L5F and P3 brains. Examination of *PLCe* in the larval and pupal brains revealed different staining patterns depending on the antisense or sense strand of the probes (Fig. 8A-D), indicating that the antisense probe represented *PLCe* expression. At both stages, *PLCe* expression was highly preferentially localized in the MBs. In the L5F brains, *PLCe* was expressed in cells around the Nbs, which correspond to the class-II KCs in a previous report [Farris et al. 1999]. Thus, I concluded that this gene is expressed preferentially in the class-II KCs in the L5F brain (Fig. 8E and F). At the P3 stage, a strong signal was detected in the cells next to the Nbs and cells at the edge of the calyces, indicating that *PLCe* is expressed preferentially in both the class-II KCs in the P3 brain (Fig. 8G and H).

In contrast to *PLCe*, no significant expression of *Syt14* was detected in the L5F brain (Fig. 9A, B, E and F), suggesting that *Syt14* is not highly expressed in the larval brain. The P3 brain showed staining only when the antisense probe was used (Fig. 9C and D), suggesting that this staining reflected *Syt14* expression. At this stage, the

staining intensity was moderate in the MBs and weak in the other brain regions. In the MBs, higher staining intensity was detected in the cells around the Nbs and cells at the edge of the calyces, indicating that the class-II KCs and IKCs selectively express *Syt14* (Fig. 9G and H).

As for dlg5, use of the antisense probe in the L5F brain produced a different pattern compared to that of the sense probe (Fig. 10A and B), indicating that the antisense probe detected dlg5 expression. The staining was weak all over the brain, however, suggesting that dlg5 is not significantly expressed in the larval brain. At the P3 stage, the MBs showed higher expression of dlg5 than the other brain region (Fig. 10C and D). In the MBs, although some expression was detected in both the KCs and Nbs, cells at the tip of the calyces showed higher expression than the other cells (Fig. 10G). Because the outer halves of the IKCs are located in this region of the calyces (Fig. 10H), this result suggested that a population of the IKCs, which was born earlier than the remaining IKCs, selectively expresses dlg5 at the P3 stage. The results of *in situ* hybridization including expression in the adult brain are summarized in Fig. 11.

Discussion

In this chapter, I analyzed the expression of genes which are expressed preferentially in the adult MBs/IKCs during metamorphosis. First, I used qRT-PCR to examine when each gene was expressed in the brain during metamorphosis of the honeybee. Expression of *PLCe*, *Syt14*, and *dlg5* was detected as early as the L5F stage, and increased with the progression of metamorphosis. I therefore performed *in situ* hybridization and identified the expression patterns of all the genes in the L5F and P3 brains. *PLCe* was preferentially expressed in the MBs, both in the larval and pupal brains. MB-selective expression of *Syt14* and *dlg5* was detected at the pupal stages, but not in the larval brain. The expression patterns of these two genes, however, differed from those in the adult brain. In the P3 brain, *Syt14* was expressed at a similar intensity in the class-II KCs and IKCs, whereas *dlg5* was selectively expressed in the outer halves of the IKCs.

Quantitative RT-PCR analysis revealed that expression of *PLCe*, *Syt14*, and, *dlg5* generally increased. This was in contrast to *Mblk-1*, whose expression was peaked at P3. *Mblk-1* is an ortholog of *Drosophila E93*, which is a transcription factor required for apoptosis of the larval salivary gland downstream of ecdysone [Lee et al. 2000]. Because the ecdysone titer increases at pupation, the increase in *Mblk-1* expression as early as the P2 pupal stage of the honeybee may also be downstream of ecdysone. *Mblk-1*, *Syt14*, and *dlg5* are expressed in the lKCs in the adult brain, and thus it is possible that *Syt14* and *dlg5* expression is regulated by *Mblk-1*, and that the increase in *Syt14* and *dlg5* expression in later pupal stages is affected by *Mblk-1* expression during the early pupal stages. I cannot exclude the possibility that *Broad-Complex (BR-C)*,

which is another transcriptional factor expressed in the adult IKCs [Paul et al. 2006], affects the expression of *Syt14* and *dlg5*, because I did not analyze *BR-C* expression.

In situ hybridization of all the genes revealed distinct expression patterns in the larval and pupal brains. First, I analyzed expression of RpL32 and Mblk-1, and identified cells with higher levels of these genes. High RpL32 expression was detected in some cells in the OLp as well as in the MBs (Fig. 6A arrow in OLp). Although the cell types in the honeybee OLp have not been characterized in detail, it is reported that Nb clusters in the optic primordium of Drosophila melanogaster produce neurons that are organized into the OLs [Togane et al. 2012]. Because the Nbs are thought to actively synthesize proteins needed for cell division, cells with intense expression of *RpL32* in the OLp of the honeybee might correspond to the Nbs. Mblk-1 expression was not only enriched in the MBs, it was also observed in some cell populations in the OLs and ALs (Fig. 7A arrows). Mblk-1 expression outside of the MBs has not been reported [Takeuchi et al. 2001]. Mblk-1 is suggested to be involved in neuronal remodeling based on the finding that a nematode homolog, MBR-1, functions in neurite pruning in the larval stage [Kage et al. 2005]. Given that neural remodeling occurs all over the brain during metamorphosis, it is plausible that Mblk-1 regulates the morphology of some neurons in the OLs and ALs, as well as the IKCs. *Mblk-1* was also expressed in Nbs in the MBs, suggesting that Mblk-1 functions before generation of the KCs. In fact, the activity of Mblk-1 as a transcription factor is upregulated by the Ras/mitogen activated protein kinase pathway [Park et al. 2003], suggesting its role in the proliferation of Nbs.

PLCe was selectively expressed in the class-II KCs in the L5F brain. Its expression in the pupal brain was detected at a similar intensity in the lKCs and class-II KCs. This suggests that *PLCe* is preferentially expressed in all KC subtypes irrespective

of the developmental stage, consistent with its preferential expression in all KC subtypes in the adult brain. Although no neuronal function of *PLCe* has yet been revealed, *PLCe* expression is observed in cells committed to neuronal lineage in the mouse brain [Wu et al. 2003]. This is similar to the results obtained in my study, suggesting that *PLCe* functions similarly in the differentiation of neurons and KCs in the mouse and honeybee, respectively. Greenberg et al. (2012) reported that miR-2796, which is a microRNA nested by the *PLCe* gene in the honeybee genome, is abundantly expressed in the adult honeybee brain, and suggested that this miRNA regulates *PLCe*. Although miR-2796 expression in the larval brain and regulates *PLCe* expression.

The pupal expression patterns of *Syt14* and *dlg5*, which were identified as genes selectively expressed in the IKCs in the adult brain, were unexpected based on analyses in the adult brain. In the early pupal brain, moderate expression of *Syt14* was detected in the class-II KCs and IKCs, suggesting that *Syt14* expression is restricted to the IKCs during midpupal to adult stages. In contrast, selective expression of *dlg5* was detected in the outer halves of the IKCs. Because KCs that are born earlier are pushed away to distal part of the MBs by the newly generated KCs [Farris et al. 1999], it is possible that the outer halves of the IKCs are more differentiated, thus expressing *dlg5*, whereas the inner halves of the IKCs do not express this gene yet because they are immature.

Syt14 is suggested to be involved in membrane trafficking [Fukuda 2003; Doi et al. 2011], while *dlg5* is reported to regulate spine formation through localization of N-cadherin [Wang et al. 2014] in mammals. If these genes have similar functions in the honeybee, membrane trafficking and spine morphology unique to the lKCs are likely to

be acquired later than P3. They were not expressed in an MB-selective manner in the L5F brain, suggesting that membrane trafficking and spine formation are less enhanced, consistent with previous reports that larval MBs lack calyces and have only thin peduncles [Farris et al. 1999; Farris et al. 2004]. Although expression of *Syt14* and *dlg5* was detected in qRT-PCR, *in situ* hybridization signals were detected at very low level. This might be because the whole brain broadly expresses *Syt14* and *dlg5*, and the signal intensity was too low to detect through *in situ* hybridization. Therefore, it is likely that synaptic transmission and spine formation in the larval brain are regulated by other Syt subtypes and postsynaptic proteins.

In the honeybee brain, many genes that have neural functions are enriched in the MBs. Among them, expression of dopamine receptors (Am*dop1*, Am*dop2*, Am*dop3*) and a tyramine receptor, Am*tyr1*, has been examined in the adult brain as well as during metamorphosis. Am*dop1* is widely expressed in the adult brain [Blenau et al. 1998]. In the pupal stages, it is expressed in all KC subtypes with more intense expression in newborn KC subtypes. It is also expressed in some other brain regions than the MBs [Kurshan et al. 2003]. Am*dop2* is preferentially expressed in the sKCs in both newly emerged workers and foragers [Humphries et al. 2003]. It is expressed in class-II KCs, sKCs, and cells in brain regions outside the MBs in pupa [Kurshan et al. 2003]. Am*dop3* is broadly expressed in both the adult and pupal brain [Beggs et al. 2005]. Am*tyr1* is also widely detected over the brain with a probe corresponding to a coding region [Blenau et al. 2000]. Use of another probe targeting the 3'-untranslated region revealed somewhat higher expression in the MBs [Mustard et al. 2005]. In the pupal brain, Am*tyr1* is expressed in all KC subtypes as well as in other cells in the brain [Mustard et al. 2005].

Compared to Am*dop1*, Am*dop3*, and Am*tyr1*, which are expressed in all KC subtypes and in some brain regions, *PLCe* is unique in that it is preferentially expressed in all of the KC subtypes at all stages analyzed. Compared to Am*dop2*, which is expressed selectively in the sKCs, *Syt14* and *dlg5* are unique because of their preferential expression in the lKCs of the adult brain. Additionally, *Syt14* and *dlg5* were selectively expressed in the pupal MBs, unlike Am*dop2*. These findings suggest that *PLCe* can be used as marker gene for all of the KC subtypes while *Syt14* and *dlg5* mark the lKCs.

The results obtained in this chapter suggest that the class-II KCs function in honeybee behavior through *PLCe*. Direct analysis of the behavior of the larval bee, however, is extremely difficult because the honeybee larva is very fragile and does not move actively. Therefore, to gain insight into the function of *PLCe* in honeybee behavior, I analyzed the possible involvement of PLC in olfactory associative learning and memory in the adult worker honeybee in Chapter II. Part of the results in Chapter I was published in Suenami et al. 2016.

Chapter II

Analysis of the function of PLC in olfactory learning and memory in the honeybee 本章については、5年以内に雑誌等で刊行予定のため、非公開。

General discussion

In my doctoral studies, I analyzed the larval and pupal Kenyon cells (KCs) with regard to the acquisition of selective gene expression in the class-II and large-type (I) KCs during metamorphosis. *Phospholipase C epsilon (PLCe)* was preferentially expressed in larval class-II KCs and pupal class-II and IKCs, suggesting that this gene marks all KC subtypes irrespective of the developmental stage. In early pupa, *Synaptotagmin 14* (*Syt14*) was also selectively expressed in the class-II and IKCs, while *discs large 5* (*dlg5*) was expressed in the outer half of the IKCs at this stage, suggesting that selective expression of these genes in the IKCs is acquired during the midpupal to adult stages. I also analyzed the involvement of PLC in olfactory associative learning and memory to gain insight into the possible functions of the mushroom bodies (MBs) in larval and adult honeybees. The results suggested that PLC is involved in the early stage of memory formation, but not in memory maintenance till 24 h. Possible functions of *PLCe*, *Syt14*, and *dlg5* in the MBs of larval and adult honeybees are discussed below.

Possible involvement of larval MB-selectively expressed PLCe in learning and memory

MB-preferential *PLCe* expression was detected already at the larval stage, suggesting that *PLCe* is involved in the differentiation and/or function of the class-II KCs at this early stage. This study is the first to identify the gene expression preferentially in the MBs of the honeybee larva.

What role does *PLCe* play in larval MBs? One possible function of the larval MBs is associative learning and memory. Although *PLCe* is lost in the *Drosophila*

genome, larval Drosophila MBs are suggested to have a role in associative learning and memory [Honjo and Furukubo-Tokunaga, 2005; Honjo and Furukubo-Tokunaga 2009; Pauls et al. 2010]. Therefore, MB-preferential expression of PLCe might be involved in some form of learning and memory in the honeybee larva. A recent study reported that young adult honeybees easily learn an odor presented with food during the larval stage [Ramírez et al. 2016]. Although the learning and memory abilities of larval honeybees were not directly examined in that study, honeybee larvae may also be able to learn an association between an odor and reward. Associative learning in Drosophila larvae requires embryonic γ -KCs [Pauls et al. 2010], which are suggested to be homologous to the honeybee class-II KCs [Strausfeld 2002]. Considering that PLC is involved in associative learning and memory in the honeybee, as demonstrated in my study, PLCe may regulate larval olfactory learning through the class-II KCs. It is difficult to examine larval behavior, however, and thus imaging techniques may be useful for detecting changes in neural activity or neural network structures in the larval MBs after simultaneous presentation of odor stimulation and food reward. In the study mentioned above, [Ramírez et al. 2016] hypothesized that odor experience in the larval stages helps young adult workers in their colony, such as in the unloading of nectar and pollen from foragers with a familiar scent. I speculated that knowledge of the colony circumstances experienced in the larval stage would help young adult bees to judge other individuals as nestmates because associative learning is immature in young adults [Ray and Ferneyhough 1997; Behrends et al. 2007]. Precise detection of nestmates is critical for integration and maintenance of the colony.

Speculated function of PLCe in learning and memory, and dance communication in

the adult honeybee

The learning and memory abilities of the adult honeybee are especially important because foragers who successfully find good food sources communicate the location and quality of the food source to their nestmates through dance communication. A previous study proposed that repeated learning increases the intracellular calcium concentration and facilitates the transfer of information from short- to long-term storage in the honeybee [Perisse et al. 2009]. *Inositol 1, 4, 5-trisphosphate receptor (IP₃R)* and *ryanodine receptor (ryr)*, whose products are calcium channels activated downstream of PLC, are selectively expressed in the IKCs [Kamikouchi et al. 1998; Uno et al. 2013]. Moreover, *PLCe* expression overlaps with expression of these genes in the IKCs [Suenami et al. 2016; Kaneko et al. 2016]. Although it is unknown whether IP₃R and ryr are involved in transferring information from short- to long-term memory and whether these receptors are activated by PLCe, it is possible that high activation of PLCe by repetitive learning induces these calcium channels to open and the intracellular calcium concentration to increase, thus facilitating the switch from short- to long-term memory.

Which neurotransmitter activates PLCe? Although the protein activated by octopamine receptors is unknown in insects, activation of octopamine receptors ectopically expressed in a cell line increases the intracellular calcium concentration [Grohmann et al. 2003], and it is suggested that at least some octopamine receptor subtypes activate PLC [Farooqui 2007]. Moreover, octopamine receptors expressed in *Drosophila* MBs and honeybee antennal lobes (ALs) are known to be involved in learning and memory [Farooqui et al. 2003; Kim et al. 2013]. Although it is not clear whether octopamine receptors expressed in honeybee MBs are involved in learning and memory, PLCe activation by octopamine may lead to memory formation. Octopamine

fed to honeybees is also reported to modulate dance communication [Barron et al. 2007]. PLCe might be involved in dance communication through learning and memory or, more directly, by regulating dance itself.

Possible involvement of PLCe in the division of labor and sociality of the honeybee

Age polyethism is another aspect of honeybee life in which PLCe may be involved. Previous studies reported that octopamine and insulin, which potentially activate *PLCe*, have functions in foraging onset [Schulz et al. 2002; Ament et al. 2008], although it is unknown whether these signals are received by the KCs. Furthermore, worker bees express more *PLCe* in the brain than males and queens [Grozinger et al. 2007; Zayed et al. 2012]. The female paper wasp (*Polistes metricus*), another social Hymenopteran, exhibits differential expression of *PLCe* in the brain in association with certain behaviors [Toth et al. 2010]. These findings imply the involvement of *PLCe* in behaviors unique to worker honeybees.

While social Hymenopterans express *PLCe* in their brain, it is absent in the genome of *Drosophila melanogaster*, a solitary insect [Greenberg et al. 2012]. Moreover, *PLCe* mutant mice that cannot generate IP₃ exhibit increased memory performance and social interaction, suggesting that *PLCe* is involved in social interactions and/or cognition [Quan et al. 2012]. If *PLCe* functions similarly in mice and Hymenopterans, this gene might be involved in decision-making behavior regarding social interaction, such as whether the honeybee interacts with nestmates or forages alone. If so, *PLCe* expression in the MBs might have been acquired in the evolution of sociality in Hymenopteran insects.

Reevaluation of proposed functions of the KC subtypes and evolution of the MBs in Hymenopteran insects

Previously, the functions of each KC subtype were assumed based on gene expression analyses [Kubo 2012; Kaneko et al. 2016]: the IKCs are involved in learning and memory, and information processing in orientation flight; the mKCs are related to information processing in orientation and foraging flights; the sKCs are suggested to function in the division of labor and in orientation and foraging flights. On the other hand, the present and previous studies [Pauls et al. 2010; Ramírez et al. 2016] suggest that the larval honeybee likely learns and memorizes odors before differentiation of the lKCs in metamorphosis. How do the findings of my study relate to the conventional hypothesis? Possible explanations include: (1) different combinations of brain structures might be involved in learning and memory depending on the developmental stage in the honeybee. For example, it is possible that while the MBs and ALs are involved in learning and memory in the adult honeybee as previously demonstrated [Hammer and Menzel 1998], only the ALs function in larval learning and memory. (2) The larval class-II KCs might be involved in learning and memory like the IKCs. This would be possible if genes expressed selectively in the adult IKCs were also expressed in the larval class-II KCs. This is unlikely, however, because my findings did not indicate preferential expression of Syt14 and dlg5 in the larval class-II KCs. (3) It is possible that both the class-II and IKCs are important for learning and memory in both the larval and adult stages despite potential differences in the contribution of the KC subtypes to learning and memory. For example, in adult Drosophila melanogaster, KCs are divided into three subtypes according to their projections, and short-term and long-term memories are processed in parallel in different KC subtypes [Trannoy et al. 2011].

Moreover, considering that the IKCs share some genes with the mammalian hippocampus and cerebellum, e.g., IP_3R , type I IP₃ 5-phosphatase, Syt14, protein kinase C, ryr, calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II, PLC [Brandt et al. 1987; Burgin et al. 1990; Mailleux et al. 1992; De Smedt et al. 1994; Watanabe et al. 1998; Mori et al. 2000; Doi et al. 2011], the IKCs might be involved not in simple associative learning but in complex forms of learning and memory, such as motor learning, which appears to be less important in larval honeybee. Farris (2011) previously described similarities between the MBs and the mammalian cerebellum in terms of the neural network architecture.

The MBs of Hymenopteran insects are structurally complicated in association with behavioral evolution: insects such as the sawfly and some parasitic wasps, which diverged from the honeybee before the emergence of sociality, have MBs with a simpler calyceal composition than the honeybee [Farris and Schulmeister 2011; Kaneko et al. 2016] (Fig. 20). The IKCs and sKCs extend their dendrites into distinct compartments in the calyces in the honeybee [Strausfeld 2002], suggesting that different calyceal regions correspond to different KC subtypes. This implies that the composition of the KC subtypes is simpler in solitary Hymenopteran insects and that the acquisition of the KC

Conclusion of my doctoral course studies and future direction

My studies suggested that characteristics of the honeybee MBs with respect to their gene expression profile are largely acquired in two steps: the first step is the MB-preferential expression of *PLCe* from the larval stage. PLC is involved in memory formation in the adult honeybee, and the larva might also learn and memorize some

aspect of their experience, such as the scent of their colony or nestmates. The second step is the acquisition of gene expression selective to the class-I KCs in metamorphosis. If the adult class-I KCs and larval class-II KCs function in different types of learning and memory, one candidate memory in which the adult class-I KCs are involved is that formed in foraging flight. I speculate that acquisition of these gene expression profiles was needed for the social evolution of the honeybee (Fig. 20).

In future studies, I will analyze the functions of *PLCe*, *Syt14*, *dlg5*, and the KC subtypes in relation to four questions: (1) What molecular and neural mechanisms work in associative learning and memory? In particular, which precise step of learning and memory is PLC involved? (2) What molecular and neural mechanisms underlie learning and memory acquired during a foraging trip? These mechanisms may differ from those involved in associative learning. (3) Is acquisition of the expression of *PLCe*, *Syt14*, and *dlg5* or the KC subtypes related to the evolution of sociality? For example, *PLCe* expression in the MBs might not be detected in solitary species and honeybees lacking *PLCe* would not be expected to leave the colony to forage. The recently reported genome editing methods [Kohno et al. 2016] will facilitate and accelerate gene function analyses, and help to clarify the function of each KC subtypes. I believe that clarifying the molecular mechanisms underlying the development and evolution of higher brain function will enhance our understanding of the evolution of this "superorganism".

Figures



Figure 1. Schematic drawing of the brain and MBs of the adult worker honeybee.

(A) Overview of the head and brain of the adult worker honeybee. The brain is shown at the depth near the MB peduncle. The MBs (magenta), OL (light blue), and ALs (yellow) in the brain are highlighted. This figure was reproduced from [Kaneko et al. 2016] with the publisher's permission. (B and C) Structure of the MBs of the adult worker honeybee. (B) Neuropil such as the calyces (dark grey) and peduncle (light grey) is colored. White regions correspond to the location of the somata of KCs. (C) Locations of the somata of each KC subtype are differentially colored. The adult MBs comprise the IKCs (purple), mKCs (yellow), sKCs (red), and, class-II KCs (green). MB, mushroom body; OL, optic lobe; AL, antennal lobe; Cal, calyx; Ped, peduncle; IKCs, large-type Kenyon cells; mKCs, middle-type Kenyon cells; sKCs, small-type Kenyon cells; Class-II KCs, Class-II Kenyon cells.



Figure 2. Development of the MBs of the worker honeybee.

(A) Proliferation of KC subtypes and expression of marker genes for mKCs during the larval and pupal stages [Farris et al. 1999; Kaneko et al. 2013]. The lower black bar depicts the developmental stages of the worker honeybee. Development progresses from larva to prepupa to pupa. Stages analyzed in this study are described in bold letters. The green, purple, and red bars above indicate the stages at which the class-II, 1-, and sKC subtypes proliferate, respectively. Black bar above the lower black bar indicates the period when *middle-type Kenyon cell-preferential arrestin-related gene-1 (mKast)*, which is the only known marker gene for the mKCs, is expressed. Dotted lines indicate that generation of the class-II, 1-, and sKCs is ambiguous, and that *mKast* expression was predicted, but not analyzed. L5F, larval fifth-instar feeding stage; L5S, larval fifth-instar spinning stage; PP, prepupa. The number after 'P' in pupal stages indicates

the number of days after pupation. (B) Structure of the MB of worker larva. Larval MBs have only Nbs (light grey) and class-II KCs (green). White region corresponds to peduncle. Ped, peduncle; Class-II KCs, Class-II Kenyon cells; Nbs, neuroblasts.



Figure 3. *In situ* hybridization analysis of the three MB-preferential genes in the adult worker honeybee brain.

(A and B) Expression of *PLCe* in the MBs identified in a previous experiment (A) and its schematic drawing (B). *PLCe* was expressed in all KC subtypes (black arrowheads in A). (C and D) Expression of *Syt14* in the MBs (C) and schematic illustration. *Syt14* was

selectively expressed in the IKCs (black arrowheads in C). White arrowheads indicate weak signals in the other KCs. (E, F) Expression of *dlg5* in the MBs (E) and its schematic illustration (F). *dlg5* was also selectively expressed in the IKCs (black arrowheads in E). White arrowheads indicate weak signals in the other KCs. (A, C, and E) Frontal section of the MBs. In illustrations (B, D, and F), boundaries between the IKCs (purple), mKCs (yellow), and sKCs (red) are represented by dotted lines when they were not discriminated by morphologic observation. The class-II KCs and the other cells are colored green and light gray, respectively. IKCs, large-type Kenyon cells; mKCs, middle-type Kenyon cells; sKCs, small-type Kenyon cells; Class-II KCs, class-II Kenyon cells. Scale bar, 100 µm.



Figure 4. qRT-PCR analysis of *RpL32*, *gapdh*, and *Arp1* in worker brains during metamorphosis.

(A-C) Changes in expression of three reference genes, RpL32 (A), gapdh (B), and Arp1 (C). The same amount of total RNA from each developmental stage was analyzed. Expression levels were normalized by those at the P9 stage, and average and standard deviation are shown. Three lots of samples were analyzed in each stage. A significant difference among stages was detected for all genes by the Kruskal-Wallis test (P<0.05).



Figure 5. qRT-PCR analysis of *PLCe*, *Syt14*, *dlg5*, and *Mblk-1* in worker brains during metamorphosis.

Changes in expression of *PLCe* (A), *Syt14* (B), *dlg5* (C), *Mblk-1* (D). The same amount of total RNA from each stage was used in this analysis. Expression is normalized to that at the P9 stage. Three lots of samples from each stage were analyzed. n.d., not detected. Significant differences among stages were detected for all genes by the Kruskal-Wallis test (P<0.05), whereas no significant difference in expression was detected when each pair of stages was considered due to small size of samples (Steel-Dwass test, P>0.05).



Figure 6. In situ hybridization analysis of RpL32 in the L5F larval brain.

(A, B) Frontal sections of a brain hemisphere stained with antisense (A) and sense (B) probes. Arrows indicate cell populations with higher signals. Dotted square shows the MBs. (C, D) Magnified view of the MB in (A) and its illustration. Arrows in (C) indicate Nbs (dark grey in D). In (D), the regions colored light gray contain the other cells. MB, mushroom body; OLp, optic lobe primordium [Roat and Landim, 2010]; AL, antennal lobe [Moda et al. 2013]; Nbs, neuroblasts; Ped, peduncle. Scale bar, 200 µm.



Figure 7. In situ hybridization analysis of Mblk-1 in the P3 pupal brain.

(A,B) Frontal sections of a brain hemisphere stained with antisense (A) and sense (B) probes. Arrowheads and arrows in (A) indicate cells with higher signals in the MBs, and the ALs and OLs, respectively. (C, D) Magnified view of the MB indicated by dotted square in (A) and its illustration. Arrows and arrowheads in (C) indicate Nbs (dark grey in D) and KCs. Black and white arrowheads indicate strong signals in the lKCs (purple in D) and weak signals in the class-II KCs (green in D), respectively. In (D), the regions colored light gray contain the other cells. MB, mushroom body; OL, optic lobe; AL, antennal lobe; R, retina; Nbs, neuroblasts; lKCs, large-type Kenyon cells; Class-II KCs, class-II KCs, class-II Kenyon cells; Cal, calyces. Scale bar, 200 µm.



Figure 8. In situ hybridization analysis of PLCe in the L5F and P3 brains.

(A-D) Frontal sections of brain hemispheres stained with antisense (A, C) and sense (B, D) probes. (A) and (B) are the results in the larval brain while (C) and (D) are those in the pupal brain. Arrowheads in (A) and (C) indicate prominent signals in the MBs. (E-H) Magnified view of the MBs represented in (A) and (C) and their illustrations. Arrowheads in (E) indicate prominent signals in the class-II KCs (green in F) in the larva MBs, while those in (G) represent prominent signals in the class-II- and IKCs (green and purple in H, respectively) in the pupal MBs. Because boundaries of the Nbs (dark grey in F) in the larval MBs and those between the class-II- and IKCs in the pupal MBs were not discriminated by morphologic observation, they are depicted by dotted lines in (F) and (H). In (F) and (H), the regions colored light gray contain the other cells. MB, mushroom body; OLp, optic lobe primordium [Roat and Landim, 2010]; AL, antennal lobe [Moda et al. 2013]; OL, optic lobe; Nbs, neuroblasts; Class-II KCs, class-II Kenyon cells; Ped, peduncle; IKCs, large-type Kenyon cells; Cal, calyces. Scale bar, 200 µm.



Figure 9. In situ hybridization analysis of Syt14 in the L5F and P3 brains.

(A-D) Frontal sections of brain hemispheres stained with antisense (A, C) and sense (B, D) probes. (A) and (B) are the results in the larval brain while (C) and (D) are those in the pupal brain. Arrowheads in (C) indicate prominent signals in the MBs. (E-H) Magnified view of the MBs represented in (A) and (C) and their illustrations. Arrowheads in (G) represent weak signals in the class-II- and IKCs (green and purple in H, respectively) in the pupal MBs. Arrows indicate weaker signals in the Nbs (dark grey in H). Because boundaries of the Nbs in the larval MBs and those between the class-II- and IKCs in the pupal MBs were not discriminated by morphologic observation, they are depicted by dotted lines in (F) and (H). In (F) and (H), the regions colored light gray contain the other cells. MB, mushroom body; OLp, optic lobe primordium [Roat and Landim, 2010]; AL, antennal lobe; OL, optic lobe; Nbs, neuroblasts; Ped, peduncle; Class-II KCs, class-II Kenyon cells; IKCs, large-type Kenyon cells; Cal, calyces. Scale bar, 200 μm.



Figure 10. In situ hybridization analysis of dlg5 in the L5F and P3 brains.

(A-D) Frontal sections of brain hemispheres stained with antisense (A, C) and sense (B, D) probes. (A) and (B) are the results in the larval brain while (C) and (D) are those in the pupal brain. Black arrowheads in (C) indicate selective signals in the MBs. (E-H) Magnified views of the MBs represented in (A) and (C) and their illustrations. In (G), black arrowheads represent the moderate signals in the outer halves of the IKCs, while white arrowheads indicate weaker signals in the remaining IKCs and class-II KCs. White arrows indicate weak signals in the Nbs. Because boundaries of the Nbs (dark grey) in the larval MBs and those between the class-II and IKCs (green and purple, respectively) in the pupal MBs were not discriminated by morphologic observation, they are depicted by dotted lines in (F) and (H). In (F) and (H), the regions colored light gray contain the other cells. MB, mushroom body; OLp, optic lobe primordium [Roat and Landim, 2010]; AL, antennal lobe [Moda et al. 2013]; OL, optic lobe; Nbs, neuroblasts; Ped, peduncle; Class-II KCs, class-II Kenyon cells; IKCs, large-type Kenyon cells; Cal, calyces. Scale bar, 200 µm.



Figure 11. Summary of the changes in gene expression profiles during

metamorphosis.

Changes in the profile of the KC subtypes and expression patterns of genes that occur with metamorphosis. This figure was reproduced from [Suenami et al. 2016] with permission from the publisher. Signal intensities of genes are indicated by the intensity of the red color. (1), *Mblk-1* expression in the adult MBs was previously reported [Takeuchi et al. 2001]. Data on expression of *PLCe*, *Syt14* and *dlg5* in the adult brain was obtained in my master course studies. In the illustration of *dlg5* expression at the P3 stage, boundaries of the outer and inner halves of the lKCs are depicted by dotted lines because they were not discriminated by morphologic observation. NA, not analyzed. In the uppermost figures of the KC profiles, the Nbs, class-II-, 1-, m-, and sKCs are represented by dark grey, green, purple, yellow, and red colors, respectively. The other cells are colored light grey. Nb, neuroblasts; Ped, peduncle; Class-II, class-II Kenyon cells; lKCs, large-type Kenyon cells; Ca, calyces; mKCs, middle-type Kenyon cells; sKCs, small-type Kenyon cells.

Figure 12. から Figure 19. は第2章の内容に対応する。

第2章と同様の理由で非公開。



Figure 20. Evolution of the MBs of the Hymenopteran insect.

Hypothesis regarding the evolution of the MBs in Hymenopteran insects is illustrated. Schematic phylogenetic tree of the Hymenopteran insects is shown on top. Phytophagous species, parasitoids, and social Aculeate diversified from the common ancestral species. Characteristics of life history and illustrations of the MBs in each lineage are shown in the middle and lower panels. Lips, collars, and basal rings (colored light blue, purple and pink, respectively), which are compartments of the calyces observed in some parasitoids and social Aculeate, do not exist in the MBs of Phytophagous species. This figure was obtained from [Kaneko et al. 2016] with permission from the publisher.

References

Abel T and Lattal KM (2001) Molecular mechanisms of memory acquisition, consolidation and retrieval. *Curr Opin Neurobiol* 11: 180-187.

Amdam GV and Seehuus SC (2006) Order, disorder, death: lessons from a superorganism. *Adv Canser Res* 95: 31-60.

Ament SA, Corona M, Pollock HS and Robinson GE (2008) Insulin signaling is involved in the regulation of worker division of labor in honey bee colonies. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 105: 4226-4231.

Aravamudan B and Broadie K (2003) Synaptic *drosophila* UNC-13 is regulated by antagonistic G-protein pathways via a proteasome-dependent degradation mechanism. *J Neurobiol* 54: 417-438.

Balakrishnan SS, Basu U and Raghu P (2015) Phosphoinositide signalling in *Drosophila. Biochim Biophys Acta* 1851: 770-784.

Balfanz S, Ehling P, Wachten S, Jordan N, Erber J, Mujagic S and Baumann A (2012) Functional characterization of transmembrane adenylyl cyclases from the honeybee brain. *Insect Biochem Mol Biol* 42: 435-445.

Barron AB, Maleszka R, Vander Meer RK and Robinson GE (2007) Octopamine modulates honey bee dance behavior. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 104: 1703-1707.

Beggs KT, Hamiltoon IS, Kurshan PT, Mustard JA and Mercer AR (2005) Characterization of a D2-like dopamine receptor (*Am*DOP3) in honey bee, *Apis mellifera*. *Insect Biochem Mol Biol* 35: 873-882.

Behrends A, Scheiner R, Baker N and Amdam GV (2007) Cognitive aging is linked to social role in honey bees (Apis mellifera). *Exp Gerontol* 42: 1146-1153.

Blenau W, Erber J and Baumann A (1998) Characterization of a dopamine D1 receptor from *Apis mellifera*: cloning, functional expression, pharmacology, and mRNA localization in the brain. *J Neurochem* 70:15-23.

Blenau W, Balfanz S and Baumann A (2000) Am*tyr*1: characterization of a gene from honeybee (*Apis mellifera*) brain encoding a functional tyramine receptor. *J Neurochem* 74: 900-908.

Brandt S, Niedel JE, Bell RM and Young WS 3rd (1987) Distinct patterns of expression of different protein kinase C mRNAs in rat tissues. *Cell* 49: 57-63.

Burgin KE, Waxham MN, Rickling S, Westgate SA, Mobley WC and Kelly PT (1990) *In situ* hybridization histochemistry of Ca²⁺/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase in developing rat brain. *J Neurosci* 10: 1788-1798.

Chorna T and Hasan G (2012) The genetics of calcium signaling in *Drosophila* melanogaster. Biochim Biophys Acta 1820: 1269-1282.

Chouquet B, Lucas P, Bozzolan F, Solvar M, Maïbèche-Coisné M, Durand N and Debernard S (2010) Molecular characterization of a phospholipase C β potentially involved in moth olfactory transduction. *Chem Senses* 35: 363-373

Davis RL (2011) Traces of Drosophila memory. Neuron 70: 8-19.

De Smedt F, Verians B, Mailleux P and Erneux C (1994) Cloning and expression of human brain type I inositol 1, 4, 5-trisphosphate 5-phsophatase. High levels of mRNA in cerebellar Purkinje cells. *FEBS Lett* 347: 69-72.

Doi H, Yoshida K, Yasuda T, Fukuda M, Fukuda Y, Morita H, Ikeda S, Kato R, Tsurusaki Y, Miyake N, Saitsu H, Sakai H, Miyatake S, Shiina M, Nukina N, Koyano S, Tsuji S, Kuroiwa Y and Matsumoto N (2011) Exome sequencing reveals a homozygous SYT14 mutation in adult-onset, autosomal-recessive spinocerebellar ataxia with psychomotor retardation. *Am J Hum Genet* 89: 320-327.

Dusaban SS and Brown JH (2015) PLCε mediated sustained signaling pathways. *Adv Biol Regul* 57: 17-23.

Eisenhardt D, Fiala A, Braun P, Rosenboom H, Kress H, Ebert PR and Menzel R (2001) Cloning of a catalytic subunit of cAMP-dependent protein kinase from the

honeybee (Apis mellifera) and its localization in the brain. Insect Mol Biol 10: 173-181.

Elgersma Y, Sweatt JD, Giese KP (2004) Mouse genetic approaches to investigating calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II function in plasticity and cognition. *J Neurosci* 24: 8410-8415.

Farooqui T, Robinson K, Vaessin H and Brian SH (2003) Modulation of early olfactory processing by an octopaminergic reinforcement pathway in the honeybee. *J Neurosci* 23: 5370-5380.

Farooqui T (2007) Octopamine-mediated neuromodulation of insect senses. *Neurochem Res* 32: 1511-1529.

Farris SM, Robinson GE, Davis RL and Fahrbach SE (1999) Larval and pupal development of the mushroom bodies in the honey bee, *Apis mellifera*. *J Comp Neurol* 414: 97-113.

Farris SM, Abrams and Strausfeld NJ (2004) Development and morphology of class II Kenyon cells in the mushroom bodies of the honey beem *Apis mellifera*. *J Comp Neurol* 474: 325-339.

Farris SM (2011) Are mushroom bodies cerebellum-like structures? *Arthropod Struct Dev* 40: 368-379.

Farris SM and Schulmeister S (2011) Parasitoidism, not sociality, is associated with the evolution of elaborate mushroom bodies in the brains of hymenopteran insects. *Proc Biol Sci* 278: 940-951.

Felsenberg J, Gehring KB, Antemann V and Eisenhardt D (2011) Behavioural pharmacology in classical conditioning of the proboscis extension response in honeybees (*Apis mellifera*). J Vis Exp 47: e2282.

Fiala A, Müller U and Menzel R (1999) Reversible downregulation of protein kinase A during olfactory learning using antisense technique impairs long-term memory formation in the honeybee, *Apis mellifera*. *J Neurosci* 19: 10125-10134.

Fukuda M (2003) Molecular cloning, expression and characterization of a novel class of synaptotagmin (Syt XIV) conserved from *Drosohila* to humans. *J Biochem* 133: 641-649.

Ganeshina O, Schäfer S, Malun D (2000) Proliferation and programmed cell death of neuronal precursors in the mushroom bodies of the honeybee. *J Comp Neurol* 417: 349-365.

Gehring KB, Heufelder K, Kersting I and Eisenhardt D (2016) Abundance of phosphorylated *Apis mellifera* CREB in the honeybee's mushroom body inner compact cells varies with age. *J Comp Neurol* 524: 1165-1180.

Greenberg JK, Xia J, Zhou X, Thatcher SR, Gu X, Ament SA, Newman TC, Green PJ, Zhang W, Robinson GE and Ben-Sharar Y (2012) Behavioral plasticity in honey bees is associated with differences in brain microRNA transcriptome. *Genes Brain Behav* 11: 660-670.

Grohmann L, Blenau W, Erber J, Ebert PR, Strünker T and Baumann A (2003) Molecular and functional characterization of an octopamine receptor from honeybee (*Apis mellifera*) brain. *J Neurochem* 86: 725-735.

Grozinger CM, Fan Y, Hoover SE and Winston ML (2007) Genome-wide analysis reveals differences in brain gene expression patterns associated with caste and reproductive status in honey bees (*Apis mellifera*). *Mol Ecol* 16: 4837-4848.

Grünbaum L and Müller U (1998) Induction of a specific olfactory memory leads to a long-lasting activation of protein kinase C in the antennal lobe of the honeybee. *J Neurosci* 18: 4384-4392.

Hammer M and Menzel R (1998) Multiple sites of associative odor learning as revealed by local brain microinjections of octopamine in honeybees. *Learn Mem* 5: 146-156.

Hasan G and Rosbash M (1992) *Drosophila* homologs of two mammalian intracellular Ca^{2+} -release channels: identification and expression patterns of the inositol 1, 4, 5-trisphosphate and the ryanodine receptor genes. *Development* 116: 967-975.

Hoedjes KM, Smid HM, Schijlen EG, Vet LE and van Vugt JJ (2015) Learning-induced gene expression in the heads of two *Nasonia* species that differ in long-term memory formation. *BMC Genomics* 16: 162.

Honjo K and Furukubo-Tokunaga K (2005) Induction of cAMP response element-binding protein-dependent medium-term memory by appetitive gustatory reinforcement in *Drosophila* larvae. *J Neurosci* 25: 7905-7913.

Honjo K and Furukubo-Tokunaga K (2009) Distinctive neuronal networks and biochemical pathways for appetitive and aversive memory in *Drosophila* larvae. J *Neurosci* 29: 852-862.

Hori S, Takeuchi H, Arikawa K, Kinoshita M, Ichikawa N, Sasaki M and Kubo T (2006) Associative visual learning, color discrimination, and chromatic adaptation in the harnessed honeybee *Apis mellifera* L. *J Comp Physiol A Neuroethol Sens Neural Behav Physiol* 192: 691-700.

Huang W, Hicks SN, Sondek J and Zhang Q (2011) A fluorogenic, small molecule reporter for mammalian phospholipase C isozymes. *ACS Chem Biol* 6: 223-228.

Humphries MA, Mustard JA, Hunter SJ, Mercer AR, Ward V and Ebert PR (2003) Invertebrate D2 type dopamine receptor exhibits age-based plasticity of expression in the mushroom bodies of the honeybee brain. *J Neurobiol* 55: 315-330.

Kage E, Hayashi Y, Takeuchi H, Hirotsu T, Kunitomo H, Inoue T, Arai H, Iino Y and Kubo T (2005) MBR-1, a novel helix-turn-helix transcription factor, is required for pruning excessive neurites in *Caenorhabditis elegans*. *Curr Biol* 15: 1554-1559.

Kain P, Badsha F, Hussain SM, Nair A, Hasan G and Rodrigues V (2010) Mutants in phospholipid signaling attenuate the behavioral response of adult *Drosophila* to trehalose. *Chem Senses* 35: 663-673.

Kamikouchi A, Takeuchi H, Sawata M, Ohashi K, Natori S and Kubo T (1998) Preferential expression of the gene for a putative inositol 1, 4, 5-trisphoshphate receptor homologue in the mushroom bodies of the brain of the worker honeybee *Apis mellifera*

L. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 242: 181-186.

Kamikouchi A, Takeuchi H, Sawata M, Natori S and Kubo T (2000) Concentrated expression of Ca²⁺/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II and protein kinase C in the mushroom bodies of the brain of the honeybee Apis mellifera L. *J Comp Neurol* 417: 501-510.

Kaneko K, Hori S, Morimoto MM, Nakaoka T, Paul RK, Fujiyuki T, Shirai Kenichi, Wakamoto A, Tsuboko S, Takeuchi H and Kubo T (2010) *In situ* hybridization analysis of the expression of *Futsch*, *Tau*, and *MESK2* homologues in the brain of the European honeybee (*Apis mellifera* L.). *PLoS One* 5: e9213.

Kaneko K, Ikeda T, Nagai, M, Hori S, Umatani C, Tadano H, Ugajin A, Nakaoka T, Paul RK, Fujiyuki T, Shirai K, Kunieda T, Takeuchi H and Kubo T (2013) Novel middle-type Kenyon cells in the honeybee brain revealed by area-preferential gene expression analysis. *PLoS One* 8: e71732.

Kaneko K, Suenami S and Kubo T (2016) Gene expression profiles and neural activities of Kenyon cell subtypes in the honeybee brain: identification of novel 'middle-type' Kenyon cells. *Zoological Lett* 2: 14.

Kim YC, Lee HG, Lim J and Han KA (2013) Appetitive learning requires the alpha1-like octopamine receptor OAMB in the *Drosophila* mushroom body neurons. *J Neurosci* 33: 1672-1677.

Kiya T, Kunieda T and Kubo T (2007) Increased neural activity of a mushroom body neuron subtype in the brains of forager honeybees. *PLoS One* 2: e371.

Kobayashi M, Michaut L, Ino A, Honjo K, Nakajima T, Maruyama Y, Mochizuki H, Ando M, Ghangrekar I, Takahashi K, Saigo K, Ueda R, Gehring WJ and Furukubo-Tokunaga K (2006) Differential microarray analysis of *Drosophila* mushroom body transcripts using chemical ablation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 103: 14417-14422.

Koganezawa M and Shimada I (2002) Inositol 1, 4, 5-trisphosphate transduction cascade in taste reception of the fleshfly, *Boettcherisca peregrina*. J Neurobio 51:

66-83.

Koh HY, Kin D, Lee J, Lee S and Shin HS (2008) Deficits in social behavior and sensorimotor gating in mice lacking phospholipase C β 1. *Genes Brain Behav* 7: 120-128.

Kohno H, Suenami S, Takeuchi H, Sasaki T and Kubo T (2016) Production of knockout mutants by CRISPR/Cas9 in the European honeybee, *Apis mellifera* L. *Zoolog Sci* 33: 505-512.

Kubo T (2012) Neuroanatomical dissection of the honeybee brain based on temporal and regional gene expression patterns. in: Galizia CG, Eisenhardt D and Giurfa M (Eds.), Honeybee neurobiology and behavior. A tribute to Randolf Menzel. Springer.

Kurshan PT, Hamilton IS, Mustard JA and Mercer AR (2003) Developmental changes in expression patterns of two dopamine receptor genes in mushroom bodies of the honeybee, *Apis mellifera*. *J Comp Neurol* 466: 91-103.

Lee CY, Wendel DP, Reid P, Lam G, Thummel CS and Baehrecke EH (2000) *E93* directs steroid-triggered programmed cell death in *Drosophila*. *Mol Cell* 6:433-443.

Lipsky JJ and Lietman PS (1982) Aminoglycoside inhibition of a renal phosphatidylinositol phospholipase C. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* 220: 287-292.

Lozano VC, Armengaud C and Gauthier M (2001) Memory impairment induced by cholinergic antagonists injected into the mushroom bodies of the honeybee. *J Comp Physiol A* 187: 249-254.

Lutz CC and Robinson GE (2013) Activity-dependent gene expression in honey bee mushroom bodies in response to orientation flight. *J Exp Biol* 216: 2031-2038.

Mailleux P, Takazawa K, Erneux C and Vanderhaeghen JJ (1992) Comparison of neuronal inositol 1, 4, 5-trisphosphate 3-kinase and receptor mRNA distributions in the adult rat brain using *in situ* hybridization histochemistry. *Neuroscience* 49: 577-590.

Malik BR, Gillespie JM and Hodge JJ (2013) CASK and CaMKII function in the mushroom body α'/β' neurons during *Drosophila* memory formation. *Front Neural*

Circuits 7: 52.

Matsumoto Y, Sandoz JC, Devaud JM, Lormant F, Mizunami M and Giurfa M (2014) Cyclic nucleotide-gated channels, calmodulin, adenylyl cyclase, and calcium/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II are required for late, but not early, long-term memory formation in the honeybee. *Learn Mem* 21: 272-286.

McGuire SE, Deshazer M and Davis RL (2005) Thirty years of olfactory learning and memory research in *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Prog Neurobiol* 76: 328-347.

Menzel R (2009) Working memory in bees: also in flies? J Neurogeneti 23: 92-99

Menzel R (2012) The honeybee as a model for understanding the basis of cognition. *Nat Rev Neurosci* 13: 758-768.

Miyata M, Kim HT, Hashimoto K, Lee TK, Cho SY, Jiang H, Wu Y, Jun K, Wu D, Kano M and Shin HS (2001) Deficient long-term synaptic depression in the rostral cerebellum correlated with impaired motor learning in phospholipase C β4 mutant mice. *Eur J Neurosci* 13: 1945-1954.

Mizunami M, Nemoto Y, Terao K, Hamanaka Y and Matsumoto Y (2014) Roles of calcium/calmodulin-dependent kinase II in long-term memory formation in crickets. *PLoS One* 9: e107442.

Mizunami M, Hamanaka Y and Nishino H (2015) Toward elucidating diversity of neural mechanisms underlying insect learning. *Zoological Lett* 1: 8.

Moda LM, Vieira J, Guimarães Freire AC, Bonatti V, Bomtorin AD, Barchuk AR and Simões ZL (2013) Nutritionally driven differential gene expression leads to heterochronic brain development in honeybee castes. *PLoS One* 8: e64815.

Mori F, Fukaya M, Abe H, Wakabayashi K and Watanabe M (2000) Developmental changes in expression of the three ryanodine receptor mRNAs in the mouse brain. *Neurosci Lett* 285: 57-60.

Moritz RFA and Fuchs S (1997) Organization of honeybee colonies: characteristics

and consequences of a superorganism concept. Apidologie 29: 7-21.

Müssig L, Richlitzki A, Rössler R, Eisenhardt D, Menzel R and Leboulle G (2010) Acute disruption of the NMDA receptor subunit NR1 in the honeybee brain selectively impairs memory formation. *J Neurosci* 30: 7817-7825.

Mustard JA, KurshanPT, Hamilton IS, Blenau W and Mercer AR (2005) Developmental expression of a tyramine receptor gene in the brain of the honeybee, *Apis mellifera. J Comp Neurol* 2005: 66-75.

Nakagawa T and Vosshall LB (2009) Controversy and consensus: noncanonical signaling mechanisms in the insect olfactory system. *Curr Opin Neurobiol* 19: 284-292.

Page RDM (1996) TREEVIEW: An appiation to display phylogenetic trees on personal computers. *Comput Appl Biosci* 12:357-358.

Park JM, Kunieda T and Kubo T (2003) The activity of Mblk-1, a mushroom body-selective transcription factor from the honeybee, is modulated by the ras/MAPK pathway. *J Biol Chem* 278: 18689-18694.

Paul RK (2004) Identification and expression pattern analysis of mushroom body-selective genes from the honeybee brains. *Doctoral thesis, The University of Tokyo*.

Paul RK, Takeuchi H, Matsuo Y and Kubo T (2005) Gene expression of ecdysteroid-regulated gene *E74* of the honeybee in ovary and brain. *Insect Mol Biol* 14: 9-15.

Paul RK, Takeuchi H and Kubo T (2006) Expression of two ecdysteroid-regulated genes, *Broad-Complex* and *E75*, in the brain and ovary of the honeybee (*Apis mellifera* L.). *Zoolog Sci* 23: 1085-1092.

Pauls D, Selcho M, Gendre N, Stocker RF and Thum AS (2010) *Drosophila* larvae establish appetitive olfactory memories via mushroom body neurons of embryonic origin. *J Neurosci* 30: 10655-10666.

Perisse E, Raymond-Delpech V, Néant I, Matsumoto Y, Leclerc C, Moreau M and Sandoz JC (2009) Early calcium increase triggers the formation of olfactory long-term memory in hoenybees. *BMC Biol* 7: 30.

Powis G, Seewald MJ, Gratas C, Melder D, Riebow J and Modest EJ (1992) Selective inhibition of phosphatidylinositol phospholipase C by cytotoxic ether lipid analogues. *Cancer Res* 52: 2835-2840.

Quan WX, Li SX, Bai YF, Zhang XY, Qiao H, Li J and Zhou DF (2012) Characteristics of behaviors and prepulse inhibition in phospholipase $C\epsilon^{-/-}$ mice. *Neurol Psychiatry Brain Res* 18: 169-174.

Ramírez G, Fagundez C, Grosso JP, Argibay P, Arenas A and Farina WM (2016) Odor experiences during preimaginal stages cause behavioral and neural plasticity in adult honeybees. *Front Behav Neurosci* 10: 105.

Ray S and Ferneyhough B (1997) The effects of age on olfactory learning and memory in the honey bee *Apis mellifera*. *Neuroreport* 8: 789-793.

Reim T, Thamm M, Rolke D, Blenau W and Scheiner R (2013) Suitability of three common reference genes for quantitative real-time PCR in honey bees. *Apidologie* 44: 342-350.

Rioult-Pedotti MS, Pekanovic A, Atiemo CO, Marshall J and Luft AR (2015) Dopamine promotes motor cortex plasticity and motor skill learning via PLC activation. *PLoS One* 10: e0124986.

Roat TC and Landim C da C (2010) Mitosis and cell death in the optic lobes of workers, queens and drones of the honeybee (*Apis mellifera*) during metamorphosis. *J Biosci* 35:415-425.

Scheiner R, Müller U, Heimburger S and Erber J (2003) Activity of protein kinase A and gustatory responsiveness in the honey bee (*Apis mellifera* L.). *J Comp Physiol A* 189: 427-434.

Schlenstedt J, Balfanz S, Baumann A and Blenau W (2006) Am5-HT7: molecular

and pharmacological characterization of the first serotonin receptor of the honeybee (*Apis mellifera*). J Neurochem 98: 1985-1998.

Scholl C, Kübert N, Muenz TS and Rössler W (2015) CaMKII knockdown affects both early and late phases of olfactory long-term memory in the honeybee. *J Exp Biol* 218: 3788-3796.

Schulz DJ, Barron AB and Robinson GE (2002) A role for octopamine in honey bee division of labor. *Brain Behav Evol* 60: 350-359.

Sen Sarma M, Rodriguez-Zas SL, Hong F, Zhong S and Robinson GE (2009) Transcriptomic profiling of central nervous system regions in three species of honey bee during dance communication behavior. *PLoS One* 4: e6408.

Shortridge RD, Yoon J, Lending CR, Bloomquist BT, Perdew MH and Pak WL (1991) A *Drosophila* phospholipase C gene that is expressed in the central nervous system. *J Biol Chem* 266: 12474-12480.

Smrcka AV, Broun JH and Holz GG (2012) Role of phospholipase Ce in physiological phosphoinositide signaling networks. *Cell Signal* 24:1333-1343.

Strausfeld NJ (2002) Organization of the honey bee mushroom body: Representation of the calyx within the vertical and gamma lobe. *J Comp Neurol* 450:4-33.

Suenami S, Rajib PK, Takeuchi H, Okude G, Fujiyuki T, Shirai K and Kubo T (2016) Analysis of the differentiation of Kenyon cell subtypes using three mushroom body-preferential genes during metamorphosis in the honeybee (*Apis mellifera* L.). *PLoS One* 11: e0157841.

Szyszka P, Galkin A and Menzel R (2008) Associative and non-associated plasticity in kenyon cells of the honeybee mushroom body. *Front Syst Neurosci* 2: 3.

Takeuchi H, Kage E, Sawata M, Kamikouchi A, Ohashi M, Fujiyuki T, Kunieda T, Sekimizu K, Natori S and Kubo T (2001) Identification of a novel gene, *Mblk-1*, that encodes a putative transcription factor expressed preferentially in the large-type Kenyon cells of the honeybee brain. *Insect Mol Biol* 10:487-494.

Takeuchi H, Fujiyuki T, Shirai K, Matsuo Y, Kamikouchi A, Fujinawa Y, Kato A, Tsujimoto A and Kubo T (2002) Identification of genes expressed preferentially in the honeybee mushroom bodies by combination of differential display and cDNA microarray. *FEBS Lett* 513: 230-234.

Takeuchi H, Paul RK, Matsuzaka E and Kubo T (2007) *EcR-A* expression in the brain and ovary of the honeybee (*Apis mellifera* L.). *Zoolog Sci* 24: 596-603.

Tautz J and Heilmann HR (2007) Phänomen honigbiene. Springer Spektrum.

Thompson JD, Gibson TJ, Plewniak F, Jeanmougin F and Higgins DG (1997) The ClustalX window interface: flexible strategies for multiple sequence alignment aided by quality analysis tools. *Nucleic Acids Res* 25:4876-4882.

Togane Y, Ayukawa R, Hara Y, Akagawa H, Iwabuchi K and Tsujimura H (2012) Spatio-temporal pattern of programmed cell death in the developing *Drosophila* optic lobe. *Develop Growth Differ* 54: 503-518.

Toth AL, varala K, Henshaw MT, Rodriguez-Zas SL, Hudson ME and Robinson GE (2010) Brain transcriptomic analysis in paper wasps identifies genes associated with behaviour across social insect lineages. *Proc Biol Sci* 277: 2139-2148.

Trannoy S, Redt-Clouet C, Dura JM and Preat T (2011) Parallel processing of appetitive short- and long-term memories in *Drosophia. Curr Biol* 21: 1647-1653.

Tully T, Cambiazo V and Kruse L (1994) Memory through metamorphosis in normal and mutant *Drosophila*. *J Neurosci* 14: 68-74.

Ugajin A, Kunieda T and Kubo T (2013) Identification and characterization of an *Egr* ortholog as a neural immediate early gene in the European honeybee (*Apis melligera* L.). *FEBS Lett* 587: 3224-3230.

Uno Y, Fujiyuki T, Morioka M and Kubo T (2013) Mushroom body-preferential expression of proteins.genes involved in endoplasmic reticulum Ca2+-transport in the worker honeybee (*Apis mellifera* L.) brain. *Insect Mol Biol* 22:52-61.

Vidovic M, Nighorn A, Koblar S and Maleszka R (2007) Eph receptor and ephrin signaling in developing and adult brain of the honeybee (*Apis mellifera*). *Dev Neurobiol* 67: 233-251.

Walkinshaw E, Gai Y, Farkas C, Richter D, Nicholas E, Keleman K and Davis RL (2015) Identification of genes that promote or inhibit olfactory memory formation in *Drosophila. Genetics* 199: 1173-1182.

Walz B, Ukhanov K and Zimmermann B (2000) Actions of neomycin on electrical light responses, Ca^{2+} release, and intracellular Ca^{2+} changes in photoreceptors of the honeybee drone. *J Comp Physiol A* 486: 1019-1029.

Wang ZL, Wang H, Qin QH and Zeng ZJ (2013) Gene expression analysis following olfactory learning in *Apis mellifera*. *Mol Biol Rep* 40: 1631-1639.

Wang SH, Celic I, Choi SY, Riccomagno M, Wang Q, Sun LO, Mitchell SP, Vasioukhin V, Hunganir RL and Kolodkin AL (2014) Dlg5 regulates dendritic spine formation and synaptogenesis by controlling subcellular N-cadherin localization. *J* Neurosci. 34:12745-12761.

Watanabe M, Nakamura M, Sato K, Kano M, Simon MI and Inoue Y (1998) Patterns of expression for the mRNA corresponding to the four isoforms of phospholipase $C\beta$ in mouse brain.

Wenzel B, Elsner N and Heinrich R (2002) mAChRs in the grasshopper brain mediate excitation by activation of the AC/PKA and the PLC second-messenger pathways. *J Neurophysiol* 87: 876-888.

Winston ML (1986) The biology of the honeybee. Harvard University Press.

Wong R, Fabian L, Forer A and Brill JA (2007) Phospholipase C and myosin light chain kinase inhibition define a common step in actin regulation during cytokinesis. *BMC Cell Biol* 8: 15.

Wu D, Tadano M, Edamatsu H, Masago-Toga M, Yamawaki-Kataoka Y,

Terashima T, Mizoguchi A, Minami Y, Satoh T and Kataoka T (2003) Neuronal lineage-specific induction of phospholipase Cε expression in the developing mouse brain. *Eur J Neurosci* 17:1571-1580.

Yamazaki Y, Shirai K, Paul RK, Fujiyuki T, Wakamoto A, Takeuchi H and Kubo T (2006) Differential expression of *HR38* in the mushroom bodies of the honeybee brain depends on the caste and division of labor. *FEBS Lett* 580: 2667-2670.

Yoshioka T, Inoue H and Hotta Y (1985) Absence of phosphatidylinositol phosphodiesterase in the head of a *Drosophila* visual mutant, *norpA* (no receptor potential A). *J Biochem* 97: 1251-1254.

Zayed A, Narger NL, Rodriguez-Zas SL and Robinson GE (2012) Common and novel transcriptional routes to behavioral maturation in worker and male honey bees. *Genes Brain Behav* 11: 253-261.

Zhu L, McKay RR and Shortridge RD (1993) Tissue-specific expression of phospholipase C encoded by the *norpA* gene of *Drosophila melanogaster*. *J Biol Chem* 268: 15994-16001.

Acknowledgements

First of all, I would like to express my deepest gratitude to Professor Takeo Kubo. He always encouraged my research and gave me valuable proposals and suggestions. I am **also** thankful to Associate Professor Hideaki Takeuchi from my heart. Thanks to him, I learned basic skills as a researcher in my early life in the graduate school.

I am grateful to Dr. Takayuki Ueno, Mr. Hiroki Kohno for their giving me standard samples and primers of *Mblk-1* and *gapdh*, respectively. I am also thankful to Ms Shiori Iino, who kindly collaborated with me in qRT-PCR of *PLCe* in tissues involved in olfactory learning and memory.

I thank my laboratory members for their valuable suggestions and discussions in my graduate course studies.

Finally, I give my great thanks to my family for their offering tremendous supports to me and encouraging my research.

I hope that lives and researches of people mentioned above are happy and fruitful.